APPLICATION/REQUETE N° 17265/90
Alvaro BARAGIOLA v/SWITZERLAND

Alvaro BARAGIOLA ¢/SUISSE

DECISION of 21 October 1993 on the adimussibility of the application

DFCISION du 21 octobre 1993 sur la recevabilite de la requéte

Article 6, paragraph 1 of the {onvention

al A virulent press campaien can In certain ciicumtances  adversely affect the
fuairness of a trial and imolve the State’s responsibidiny particularh if 11 1s sparked
off by one of the State s vt guns

Buluncing of the 1ight to a fair trial and the public’s nigit to information

b) Article 6 para I does not lav down rules on admisibiluty of evidence which 13
primarily a matter for regulation under national law The Commission must assess
fairness on the basis of an exanmination of the proceedings av a whole

In this case a conwviction partly on the basis of the evidence of (o accused wha
have agreed o testify for the prosecution and whaose sentences have been reduced
far that reason 15 not contrary (o0 a fair tnal n so far as their evidence has been
apen ta challenge and there also existed other evidence In addition no indication
that the comiction was based on indirect tnformation or on previous judgments

o) Imparaaliny of a tribunal s tested on both a subjeciive und an objective bavis and
appearunces may be of importance
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d) Limuation of access to an assize court hearing in a prison to persons with securiy
passes 15 not contrary to the requirement of publicity, having regard to prison
security and the subsequemt reading out at a public hearing of the prisoners’
witness statehents

Article 6, paragraphs 1 and 3 (d) of the Convention

a} An accused should be ghven a proper opportunity to challenge a witness against
mm, who must be heard at a public hearing with a view to adversarial argument
However, the reading out of the records of statements made by witnesses 15 not
wncompatible with Article & paras I and 3 (d), provided the use made of such
statements as evidence complies with the rights of the defence

b) The term “witness” within the meanmng of this provision must be understood as
covering also experts In this case, no infringement of the principle of equality of
arms, given the possibility of questioning the experts as witnesses

Article 6, paragraph 2 of the Convention The presumption of innocence requires
that no representative of the State declare that a person 1y guilty of having commtted
an offence before that guilt 15 established bv a court

Public remark by the President of the Cantonal Council (Switzerland), prior to trial
about the dangerous character of the apphcant In this case, no infringement of the
presumption of imnocence, as the remark referred to a previous conviction in another
country

Article 6, paragraph 3 of the Convention The gua antees specified 1n Article 6
pata 3 must be wnterpreted in the light of the general nonon of a fawr trial contarned
in Article 6 para 1

Article 6, paragraph 3 (d) of the Convention

a) Thiy provision does not guarantee an unlimited right for an accused to have
witnesses called

b) An accused who has declared that he 15 not prepared to take anv further part in the
proceedings cannot complain about a violatton of this proviion

Article 7, paragraph 1 of the Convention Application of Article 6 of the Swiss
Criminal Code to a person w ho acguired Swiss nattonality after commuting an offence
15 nol contrary to this provision

Article 4, paragraph 1 of the Seventh Protocol This provision does not guarantee

respect for the prinaple ne bis in wdem where a person has been tried or punished by
the courts of different States
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(TRANSLATION)}
THE FACTS

The apphcant, Alvaro Baragiola, 15 a Swiss national, born 1 1955 and resident
m Crogho (canton of Ticino) He 15 at present a prisoner at the "La Stampa” pnison

m Lugano

The apphcant 15 represented before the Commssion by Mr John Noseda,
Mr Carlo Verda and Mr Edy Salmina, lawyers practnsing 1in Viganello Lugano

The facts of the case, as submitied by the apphicant, may be summarised as
follows

The applicant, born of a Swiss mother and ltahan father, had Italian nationality
and lived, after his parents’ separation, with his mother at Castelrotto, a few kilometres
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away from Lugano, taking the surname of his father - Lolacono In 1969 he went 1o
live with his father in Rome From 1970 onwards he was an active member of left-
wmg political movements

In a judgment dated 31 May 1980 the Rome Court of Appeal sentenced the
applicant in absentia to 16 years” imprisonment, for aiding and abetting the murder of
a Greek student, among other charges  The applicant’s appeal on points of law against
this judgment was dismussed by the Court of Cassation on 20 October 1981  After
leaving Rome in the summer of 1981 the applicant went to Brazil on 31 December
1984

Before the Court of Cassation delivered 1ts judgment of 20 October 1981 a
warrdnt for the applicant’s arrest had been 1ssued by the ltalian authonties He was
suspected of having been a member of a terronst organmisation, the  Red Brigades  On
24 January 1983, at the end of the so-called Moro 1 bis trial, the Rome Assize Court
sentenced him in absentia to hfe imprisonment  He was found guilty of aiding and
abetung the murder of fudge Girolamo Tartaghone, among other charges On
14 March 1985 this conviction was upheld by the Rome Court of Appeal An appeal
on points of law was dismissed

Having a Swiss mother, the applicant obtained 4 certificate of Swiss nationality
on 19 June 1986 from the office of the registrar of births, marrages and deaths 1n
Bellinzona (canton of Tiwcine) In September 1986 he returned to Switzerland On
28 January 1987 the Twcino Cantonal Council authomsed him 1o subsitute for the
surname Lolacono that of his mother - Baragiola  In September 1987 the applicant was
taken nto the employ of the third channel of the Swiss Italian language radio service
as a game show host

On 3 June 1988 the mvesugating judge attached to the Rome District Court
wsued a warrant for the applicant’s drrest, charging hum, inter alia, with aiding and
abetung the kidnapping and morder of Aldo Moro

The 1mvestigation proceedings

After being sought under international arrest warrants made out with the name
Lotacono, the applicant was arrested on 8 June 198% 10 Lugano and placed 1n detention
on remand

He was charged with commutting tin Rome between 16 March and 9 May 1978
crimes which included the killing of five police bodyguards, the kidnapping and musder

of Aldo Moro, the attempted murder of a bystander and armed assault

Immediately after his arrest a virulent press campaign began which aroused
strong emotions tn the canton of Tiwcino
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In order to prevent, as far as possible, the disserunation of incorrect information,
the Ticine cantonal prosecution service issued a press commumqué on 20 June 1988,
stating that the applicant, who proclaimed his innocence, had been questioned on a
number of occasions by the investigating judge about the charges preferred against him
and that the criminal proceedings opened by the Lugano Public Prosecutor’s Office
were pursuing their course in accordance with the procedural and constitutional rules,
regard being had to the particularly delicate nature of the case

On 14 July 1988 the Italian authorities requested an order authorising the
enforcement in Switzerland of the judgments given in Italy, which had become final

This request was rejected by the Federal Police Office on 22 July 1988 on the
ground that the federal law on mutual international assistance in ciminal matters had
not come into force until 1 January 1983 and was not applicable retroactively. It
therefore fell to the Swiss authorities themselves to try the applicant for the crimes
commutted in Italy

On 29 May 1989 the applicant was sent for tnal in the Assize Court (corte delle
assise criminal) of the canton of Ticino in Lugano. The court was composed of the
vice-president of the Criminal Division of the Ticine Cantonal Court of Appeal, two
judges, five jurors and two substiiute jurors

The applicant was accused of aiding and abetting the murder of Judge Girolamo
Tartaghone, committed on 10 October 1978 in Rome, aiding and abetting the attempted
murder of another judge and aiding and abetting a number of attempted armed
robberies committed during 1979 against the National Communications Bank

It was alleged in the indictment that the "Red Brigades” commando which had
killed Judge Grrolamo Tartaglione had been composed of five persons: Alessio
Casimurri, who had shot at the judge, the applicant, who had covered Casimirri duning
the attack, the driver, Massimoe Cianfanelli, and two women, one of whom had
signalled the judge’s armval by riding ahead of him on a motor scooter, while the other,
armed with a handgun and a sub-machine gun, kept watch on the outside of the judge’s
home.

In a decision also dated 29 May 1989 the Ticino cantonal prosecution service
suspended the proceedings against the applicant in respect of the kidnapping and
murder of Aldo Moro for lack of sufficient evidence.

The trial praceedings

The case was set down for trial on 9 October 1989, The Assize Court held
fifteen hearings, the last of these on 6 November 1989,

At the hearing of 9 October 1989 the Assize Court dismissed the applicant’s plea
that the Swiss court lacked jurisdiction, All the other requests made by the applicant
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at the heanings of 9, 10 and 12 QOctober 1989 concerning the taking of evidence were
rejected by the Assize Court

The challenge for bias

On 13 Qctober 1989, the fifth day of the mual, the applicant challenged 4ll the
members of the Assize Coun

He based this challenge on the Assize Court’s presumed partiality, due to the
nfluence exerted by the media on public opinien, and on the members of the cour,
particudarly the jurors  He claimed that 4 whole series of decisions taken by the Assize
Court showed the prejudicial effect the press had had on the impartiality of the judges
He alleged that the fairness of the proceedings had been affected in particular by the
attitude of the president, criticising the way she had conducted the trial and applied the
procedural rules

On the same day the vice pressdent of the Court of Appeal appoinied an ad fine
Assize Court to rule on the apphcant’s challenge for tias  The challenge to the
president was referred to the Crinunal Appeals Division of the Court of Appeal

On 17 October 1989 the challenge for bias was dismissed by the two cours
mentioned

The applicant then iodged a public law appeal agaunst thece decisions
The Federal Court’s judement of 15 February 1990 on the challenge for buas

In a judgment dated 15 Tebruary 1990 the Federal Court dismssed the
applicant’s appeal

It held that there was no objecuve evidence of the Assize Court's partiality

The Federal Court observed that, as a general rule procedural measures,
nrespective of thewr ments, did not constitute sufficient foundation for an objective
suspiion of tias on the part of the judge who had adopted them There was no
objective evidence to support the applicant’s claim, based on an alleged breach of
procedural rules, that the president and all the members of the Assize Court, without
exception, were based

With regard to a humorous remark made by the president  wath the intention,
State Counsel submitted, of lowenng the tension artificially created by the defence
the Federal Court held that humorows remarhs were not sufficient evidence of partiahity

With regard to the press campaign, the Federal Court observed that

circumstances extraneous 1o the tnal could influence a judgment, etther 1o favour of or
to the detnment of one of the partes However, 1t could not senously be mamntained
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that the influences judges were exposed to every day were all likely to compromuse
thewr impartiality  If any outside influence mught lead to a judge bemng challenged, the
State would no longer be able to guarantee the normal administration of justice dunng
pohitically troubled penods

The Federal Court recogmsed that non professional judges were particularly
exposed to the nsk of bemng influenced by media hostle to the defendant It also
considered that judges, as ordinary citizens, needed to keep themselves informed about
current affairs and also, 1n so far as thew activity allowed them, to form a polincal
opinion, on condition, nevertheless, that therr impartiality was not compronmused

While it was true that the members of the Assuize Court had been able to read
the daily newspapers during the mtervals between hearings, there was no objective
evidence that they had been influenced by the articles which appeared 1n the press
during the period from 9 to 13 Octlober 1989  Admttedly, the information campaign
had been very vigorous before the beginning of the tnal, but 1t had not been one sided
and had not appeared to be designed solely to convince the public of the defendant’s
gutlt  Vanous journalists had drawn attention to the power of the press and the danger
of hasty judgment In this case 1t way also impossible to 1gnore the polisical turn the
case had taken on account of the fact that the cantonal authortties had granted the
applicant Swiss citizenship and had authornised him to change his surname  although he
had been convicted by the Italian courts mn a final judgment for offences commutted as
a member of the Red Brnigades

The Federal Court further observed that, in descnbmg the apphcant as a cruel
terronist 10 a debate broadcast by radio and television the president of the cantonal
council had been refernng to the final convicuons pronounced by the Italian courts, not
to the trial due to take place 1n Lugano

The Federal Court also held that, regard being had to the importance of the oath
or solemn affirmation made by the jurors to the president when the Assize Court was
vonstituted, the prestdent’s omssion to warn them about the dangers of media influence
over the way they reached thewr verdict was not particularly serious and had not
affected the impartiality of the court  This danger was even more remote because, 1n
an assize court 1n the canton of Ticino judgment was given by both judges and jurors,
rather than by the jurors alone, as in a normal assize court

In publishing a press communique on 20 June 1988, with the agreement of the
defence, the public prosecunion service’s intention had been to urge the media to meet
the requirements of justice and to respect the defendant’s rights, meluding the principle
of the presumption of mmnocence, with a view to the impartial conduct of the judicial
proceedings

Having regard to the press communique, the Federal Court took the view that

the president of the Assize Court was not required to urge the media, even before the
opening of the irtal to respect the presumption of innocence
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However, as a general rule, and 1n order to avoud the need for any restrictions
of the freedom of the press, journalists should n future not only be more disciplined
and self-cntical but also adhere more stnictly to the cede of ethics of their professton,
exercising caution and objectivity  The freedom of the press should never lead the
mformation mecdia to convict a defendant before the competent court had given
Judgment

The subsequent course of the trial

After the apphcant’s challenge for bias had been disrmssed by the cantonal
courts, on 17 October 1989, the Assize Counrt, sitting 1n 1ts nitial composition, held a
further hearing on the very same day

At that hearing and the next, on 18 October 1989, a number of persons were
heard, four of whom had been in prison in Italy and had been transferred to Lugano
under Itahan police escort These prisoners included Massimo Cianfanelli, who had
participated tn the murder of Judge Tartaglione but had been prevailed upon to give
evidence for the prosecution

The other persens whose evidence was due to be heard either refused to leave
the prisons where they were being held or, in the case of those already released, refused
10 appedr before the Asnize Court

At the hearing of 19 Ocrober 1989 the parties were mformed of this situation
The Assize Court then decided to take the evidence of these persons in Italy The
applicant who had not been given a safe conduct by the Ttahan authonues, intormed
the Assize Court that he would not take part in the taking of evidence in Italy The
Assize Court then invited him to subnut a list in wniting of the questions he wanted the
witnesses to answer

On 20 October 1989 the Assize Court received a telegram from four defence
witnesses stating that the reason why they had failed to appear at the heanng of
17 October 1989 was that the Italian authonues ntended to take them to Switzerland
by force and agamst their will

On 22 October 1989 the applicant informed the Assize Court that he considered
a direct confrontation with the witnesses in Ttaly essential and that he had no intention
of drawing up a list of questions i wnting

At the heaning of 23 October 1989 the defence lawyers anrounced that they
would not accompany the court to Italy At the same hearing the Assize Court informed
the parties that the next hearing would take place on 25 October 1989 n Paliano prison,
near Rome The defence unsuccessfully objected It also rejected the court’s proposal
that the applicant should be assisted by a lawyer appointed under the legal aid scheme
during the taking of evidence 1n ltaly
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On 25 October 1989 the hearing was held, as planned 1n Pahano prison  Three
persons were heard The pnison governor refused to allow a number of Swiss journalists
to enter the prison because they did not have secunty passes

On the same day the court took evidence from 4 woman n a police station at
Tiwvoli, near Rome and from two other persons at a pubhic heaning 1n Rome itself

At the next heaning, on 27 October 198% which was once more held 1in Lugane
the Assize Court gave the defence the telegram received on 20 October 1989 1t
Justified the delay in passing on the telegram by the need to check tts source In spite
of protests by the defence, the Assize Court read out the viatements taken down during
the taking of evidence in Ttaly

The Assize Court s pudgment of 6 November 1989

In a judgment dated 6 November 1989 the Assize Court of the Canton of Ticino
sentenced the applicant to life imprisonment, finding him guilty of aiding and abetung
the murder of Judge Girelamo Tartaghone 1n Rome on 10 October 1978 and two
armed attempts to rob the National Commumications Bank n June and July 1979 1n
Rome The court held that the applicant had conspired to commiut murder and had
participated 1n the murder stself by covenng Casimurn, anned with a light machine gun
while the latter shot at the vicum with a Glisenut autornatic pistol

On the other hand the Aswize Court acquitted the applicant of the attempted
murder of another judge and of a third attempted armed robbery of the Nationgl
Commurcations Bank 1n September 1979

The Assze Court based its deciston m the mam on the tesumony of Massimo
Cranfanell and Walter de Cera

During the murder of Judge Girolamo Tartaglione Cranfanellt had remaned at
the wheel of a stelen car armed with o pistel, waiting 1o drive the other members of
the commando away from the scene  After his arrest on 20 May 1981 he had decided
to co operate with the Ttalian judicial authorities and had given them the names of his
accomplices and other Red Brigades mulitants

Walter de Cera had explained 1n detail how he, the applicant and other persons
had been involved n the attempted robbenes of the National Commumications Bank
He had asserted that he had decided to co operate with the judicial authoriues out of
his own desire for reconcihiation and that this had been 4 moral choice not influenced
10 any way by the inducements provided for in the legistation concerning pentiti (1€
self confessed cniminals who had agreed 1o co operate with the authorities)

The Assize Court held that Cianfanelll and de Cera had each independently

stated that the apphicant had been an active member of the Red Brigades and had then
committed the offences charged against him 1n the indictment  Their statements had
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been corroborated by those of other co-defendants and a large body of persuasive
circumstantial evidence Furthermore, the court had found no reason to doubt the truth
of the testimony 1t had heard

The Twino Cantonal Court of Cassation s Judgment of 6 Aprid 1990
The apphcant and the prosecution appealed

In a judgment dated 6 April 1990 the Ticino Cantonal Court of Cassation (corte
di casvazione e revisione penale} dismissed the applicant’s appeal On the other hand,
1 upheld 1n part the appeal lodged by the prosecuuon by finding that the apphcant was
also guilty of the third attempted armed robbery, on 24 September 1979 in Rome
However, by virtue of the new Article 112 of the Swiss Crimunal Code (murder), which
had come mio force on 1 January 1990, it reduced the sentence to 17 years'
1MPILS0nMment

The appeals to the Federal Court

The apphicant and the prosecution appealed to the Federal Court, asking 1t to
quash the above judgment

The apphcant contested m particular the jurisdiction of the Swiss courts and
pleaded the unlawfulness of the retroactive application of the Cnmunal Code

State Counsel ashed tor the case to be remitted to the cantonal authonties and
for the applicant to be sentenced to hife mmprosonment i dccordance with the
prosecution submissions

On 5 June 1990 the applicant also lodged a public law appeal, claiming that he
had not had a far tnal before the cantonal authonties He asserted that the Awaze
Court had assessed the evidence 1n an arbitrary manner, particulasly woth regard to the
following points

the statements of his co defendants who had agreed to co operate (the ' pentiti ),

- the expert reports and statements of two ftalian experts about the weapon used
to kill Judge Girolamo Tartaghone,

- the judgments delivered n Italy m the tnal concerning the kidnapping and
murder of Aldo Moro,

- the heanng of two Swiss police officers and two Italian police officers,

the swatements of persons guestioned in Ttaly in his absence and at a non public
hearng,

- the witnesses he had wanted to call
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The yudgments of the Federal Court

In two judgments dated 9 Apnil 1991, served on the applicant together with the
reasons on 26 March 1992, the Federal Court disrmissed the applicant’s appeals

Ruling on the apphicant's appeal n cassauon, the Federal Count affirmed the
Junsdiction of the Swiss courts, considenng that Article 6 of the Swiss Criminal Code
was apphcable to the case  That Article provided The present Code shall be
applicable 10 any Swiss national who has committed abroad a crime or offence 1n
respect of which Swiss law permuts extradition, provided that the act concerned 1s also
a cnimimal act in the State where 1t has been commutted and that the person responsible
15 in Switzerland or 1s extradited to Swatzerland on account of his offence  The
Federal Court held that the extension of Swiss junisdiction to offences committed by
Swiss nationals abroad was based on the pnnciple of solidanty with other States and
the need to ensure that cniminals who, becaunse of their Swiss nationality, could not be
extradited did not go unpunished

Under that interpretation, the conditions of applicability of Article 6 of the Swiss
Crimumal Code were fulfilled 1f the person alleged to have commutted the offence was
a Swiss citizen at the tme when it was committed or at the time of huis arrest with a
view to his extradition to Switzerland and prosecution there

Ruling on the apphicant’s public law appeal, the Federal Court noted that under
the Itahian legislation on  penut: the appheant’s co defendants i the Italian
proceedings, who were questtoned by the Assize Court 1in Lugano and Rome not as
witnesses but merely as persons providing information, had been given extremely light
sentences and considerable advantages, such as conditional release, as a reward for their
co-operation with the Itahan authontes

However, the Ticino crimunal authoriues had not made use of any practice
similar to that whereby a defendant 15 allowed to  turn Queen’s evidence , winch the
practice mtroduced by the Italian regulations on terrorists co-operating wiath the
authorities resembled

The Federal Court ruled that 1t would be contrary to the principle of unfettered
discretion to assess evidence, which was enunciated 1 federal law, 10 consider
generally madrmssible all statements given 1 the form of "Queen’s evidence by
foreign nationals

The Federal Court held 1n that connection that the judges and jurors were aware
that the credibility of the pentiti was an important 1ssue  That i1s why they had not
been heard as witnesses but as co-defendants and had not been asked to take the oath
Their statements had been considered credible because they were corroborated by a
large body of circumstantial evidence and because no important aspect of their precise
and consistent statements had been shown to be false
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The Federal Court concluded that the use of the statements of the "pentin  had
not infringed the applicant’s right to a fair trial

With regard to the weapon used to kill Judge Girolamo Tartaghone, the Federal
Court pointed out that the Assize Court had appointed 4 Swiss expert to produce a new
report It considered that the appheant had not explained 1n what way the Assize Court
had acted arbitranly, as he alleged, in regarding the previous reports, submutted by two
Italian expents, merely as documents, and these experts’ statements merely as witness
statements

With regard to the judgments delivered in Italy, the Federal Court stated that
these had been read out duning the first instance trnal proceedings, apart from passages
concerning the acts of which the applicant stood accused At the end of autonomous
proceedings the Assize Court had given 1ts own judgment There had thus been no
nfringement of the principles of direct evidence, vna voce testimony or the
presumption of Innocence

With regard to the takwing of evidence from two Italian police otficers and two
Swiss police officers, the Federal Court held that the applicant had not substantiated s
complant that his convictien had been based on the allegedly indirect «tatements made
by these officers

With regard to the heanings held by the As<ize Courtin Ttaly the Federal Court
held that in this case the applicant’s absence from a lumited part of the proceedings was
not contrary to the principle of a tair trial  The applicant’s absence from the hearings
at which evidence was taken n Italy was not imputable to the Assize Court but was
the mdirect consequence of proceedings previously brought against him in Itaty  The
records ot the hearings held m Maly had been read out in his presence when the trial
resumed at the Assize Courtin Lugano  The applicant had not established that through
his absence from the hearings held in Ttaly he had been prevented from questioning
those wha had made statements incoumunating hum  He could, in particular, have asked
the court to arrange for such questions to be put during a second visit to [taly

With regard to the absence of the applicam » counsel from the heanngs held i
Ttaly the Federal Court noted that they had refused to go there without a valid reason
and had thus watved the nght to conduct the applhicant’s defence in tus absence The
applicant knew that his counse! would not be participating 1n the taking of evidence 1n
Italy Nevertheless, he had not availed himself of the possibality of having a lawyer
appownted under the legal wmd <cheme for that stuge of the proceedings

Wiih repard to respect for the principle of public hearings the Federal Court
observed that the public had not been excluded except in so far as a security pass was

required for access to Paliano prison

L he Federal Court also observed that the Assize Court could not have reselved
the protlem concerming the taking of evidence wn any other way The principle of
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proportionality had been respected, and all the conditions for an exceptional and parual
derogation from the public proceedings principle for a small portion of the trial had
been sausfied

The Federal Court held that the records of the taking of evidence had been read
out with the aim of atienuating, as far as possible, the disadvantage the applicant was
al as a result of the fact that neither he nor his counsel had attended the heanngs in
ltaly

With regard to the faillure to hear the defence witnesses, the Federal Court
observed that the Court of Cassation’s finding that the defence had waived their request
that these witnesses be heard had not been arbitrary

The Federal Court also dismissed the applicant’s complaint that the Assize Court
had not done what was necessary to remove the obstacles preventing the transfer of the
I[talian prisoners called by the defence It further held that these prisoners, contrary to
the claims they made in thewr telegram, had never intended to parucipate m the
proceedings in the Lugano Assize Court  As regards the alleged delay 1n passing on
their telegram, the Federal Court observed that the applicant could have retracted his
decision not to call the defence witnesses even after the Assize Court’s retum from
Ttaly

With regard to the Assize Court’s refusal to hear witness evidence from two
officers of the cantonal police on the subject of the pressure allegedly brought to bear
on the 'pentitt” by the Italian police officers present at the hearing, the Federal Court
observed that the applicant himself did not have any material evidence to back up his
allegations  Even if the llahan police officers had brought pressure to bear on the

penuti , the cantonal pohice officers would probably not have been aware of this

With regard to the apphicant’s allegation that the Ghisenti pisto] had been
arbitranly presumed to be the weapon used to kill the judge, the Federal Court noted
that this weapon had been found to be the weapon used to commu the cnime not merely
on the basis of a Swiss expert’s report but also on the basis of other evidence, including
in particular the testimony of Cianfanelh

Lastly, with regard to the other complants, the Federal Court observed that the
applicant had done no more than submit other possible conclusions 1n place of the
Assize Court’s conclusions  Having regard to the cautious assessment of the crediblity
of the "pentitt”, and taking into account weighty evidence corroborating relevant aspects
of their statements, there was no reason to beheve that the cantonal judges had assessed
the evidence in a manifestly untenable way

COMPLAINTS
l The applicant complawns of the retroactive apphcation of the crummal law  He

alleges that he was convicted by a court that did not have junsdiction and that he 1~ the
vicum of unlawful imprisenment

113



He asserts in particular that Article 6 of the Swiss Crumunal Code cannot be
applied retroactively He maintans that thas provision clearly states, and has always
been nterpreted so to state, that the Cnminal Code 15 applicable to any Swiss national
who hdas commutted a crime At the time when the offence was commutted he was
incentestably not a Swiss national The Federal Court snterpreted Article 6 of the Swiss
Crnminal Code 1n an unusual and unforeseeable way According to the Commssion’s
case-law however, the manner in which the courts will define the constunent elements
of an offence must be foreseeable for any person with appropnate legal advice
(No 8710779, Dec 7582, DR 28p 77)

The applicant alleges a violation of Article 5 para 1 (a) and Arhcle 7 of the
Convention

2 The applicant further complains that he did not have a fair trial before the Swiss
courts He alleges viclation of paragraphs 1, 2, 3 (b) and 3 (d) of Article 6 of the
Convention

a He asserts 1n the first place that the tnal was conducted 1n an atmosphere of
intimidation for which the press bore responsibility

He submuts in particular that immediately after hes arrest he was the victum of

a press campaign that had no precedent 1n 1ts intensity, persistence or unpdact i a small

canton like Ticino  More than seven hundred articles, allegedly, were published on the

Baragiola case up unul the date of his convicuon, and 1t ts submiutted that this

campaign wnfluenced both public opuuon and the members of the Assize Court,
particularly the jurors, against him

Even before the opeming of the tmal the press, radio and television had
established his gmlt and descnibed him as a terronist and member of the Red
Bnigades” The members of the Assize Court had also been influenced by the president
of the cantonal council’s reference to him as a cruel terrorst  (efferato terronista)
These remarks were made during 4 debate 1n the cantonal council broadcast on radio
and television on 19 September 1988 In addition, Swiss Itahan language television
broadcast a programme on terronsm on 6 October 1989, 1e three days before the
opening of the tnal  Lastly, the negative nfluence of the media had been manifested
through acts of vandahsm, msults and telephone threats against members of his family
and his lawyers

The applicant complains in particular that during the intervals between hearings
the judges and jurors were able to read the newspapers  Although the Federal Court
had found that jurors needed to keep abreast of current affairs, application of that
argument to the present case was not appropniate, given the sheer scale of the press
campaign when seen 1n relation to the geographical, political and cultural characteristics
of the canton ot Twne, particularly its low population and the tendency of us
inhatutants to behieve everything printed 1n the press

114



That being the case, access to the media seriously compromised the objectivity
of the judges and jurors. The vast majority of the articles in question made him out
to be guilty, on the basis of information allegedly leaked by the Ticino authorities,
particularly the police and the camonal prosecution service, and by the Italian
authorities,

The prejudicial influence of the media over the Assize Court was also manifested
in the conduct of the president during the trial and in the categorical rejection of all his
applications aimed at preserving the rights of the defence.

Lastly, the applicant considers that, contrary to the opinion expressed by the
Federal Court, the oath sworn by the jurors at the beginning of the trial did not
constitute an appropriate and sufficient guarantee of their impartiality and did not
eliminate the need to make them aware of the dunger of a trial by media. However,
they were given no warning nor was any measure taken by the Assize Court 1o bring
the influence of the media under control, even though the defenice had requested this
several times. The applicant considers that it was incumbent upon the Swiss judicial
authorities to take the necessary measures to ensure that his right to a fair wial was
respected, to prohibit the disclosure of confidential information and to guarantee the
autherity and impartiality of the judiciary.

He alleges violation of the right to a fair trial before an impartial tribunal and
of the presumption of innocence, as guaranteed by Article 6 paras. 1 and 2 of the
Convention.

b, Relying on Article 6 para. 1 of the Convention, the applicant complains that his
conviction was essentially based on the statements of persons whase sentences had been
substantially reduced, pursuant to the Talian legislation en “pentiti", He asserts that
this legislation creates the risk of false accusations, and is contrury to Swiss procedure,
under which recourse to inducements, threats or ather means of coercion in order to
obtain statements is prohibited. But his co-defendants in the Italian proceedings were
heard by the Assize Court in the presence of and under the supervision of Italian police
officers. If the "pentiti” had changed their previous evidence. they would have run the
risk of losing the advantages they had been granted under ltalian legislation. The
Assize Court omitted to warn the jurors about the danger of the truth being obscured
by such statements, Moreover, it wrongly refused to carry out any investigation to
verify whether pressure had been brought to bear on the "pentiti”.

In its judgment of 9 April 1991 the Federal Court did not take into account
either the criticisms expressed by legal writers in connection with the judgment in the
Schenk case given by the European Court of Human Rights on 12 July 1988 or the
reservations expressed by the Court itself in that judgment. Furthermore, contrary o
the assertions of the Federal Court, the Assize Court did not take into account the
special situation in which the "pentiti” found themselves, even though it had questioned
them not as witnesses but as co-defendants. In fact, no distinction had been made
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between the pentii and the other persons guestioned In addition, the Court of
Cassauon’s judgment of 6 November 1989 gave the figure for the co-defendants’
expenses under the heading witnesses

c The applicant further complains that by refusing to call two cantonal police
officers to give evidence as witnesses on the subject of the pressure brought to bear on
the ‘pentiti” by the Itahan police the Assize Court assessed the evidence without
heanng 1t, m breach of Article 6 of the Convenuon

d The applicant further complains that the Assize Court questioned four persons
i Italy 1 his absence, although he had expressly requested the opportunity to confront
them He never unequivocally waived his nght to be present at the hearings for the
taking of evidence held tn Rome  Both the investigating authonties and the president
of the Assize Court had declared in wnting that he would have that nght However,
when the Assize Court learned that the Ttahian authonties would not grant him a safe
conduct 1t did not call off the hearings 1o Italy, as 1t should have done  Without even
mentioning 1ts earher promise 1o hold the heartng 1n ltaly wn the applicant’s presence,
1t merely asked um whether he mtended to accompany the court to Rome Thus the
Assize Court broke faith with the applicant and infringed the principle of a far trial

His counsel did not participate in the hearings m Italy because, m his absence
they would not have been able to defend his nghts properly No other measure, such
as the theoretical possibility of asking for a second set of hearings to be held in Italy
or the presence of tus lawyers at those actally held there, could have taken the place
of a direct confrontation between the apphicant and the persons quesuoned, or
compensated for the unfainess of the trial  Nor can the possibility of asking those
concerned questions 1n wning be held to be equivalent to the mght to question
witnesses for the prosecution oneself in open court There was accordingly also a
viclation of Article ¢ paras 1 and 3 (d) of the Convention

e In addition, at the hearings held m Rome, the principle of public trial, as
guaranteed by Article 6 para 1 of the Convention, was wnfringed Secrecy of the
proceedings was the prninciple applied, while publicity was the exception  Access to the
room 1 which the heaning was held was reserved for those m possession of a secunity
pass 1ssued by the Mimistry of Jusuce It was thus not the court 1tself which decided
to what extent the tnal should be public, but the Mimstry of Justice Moreover,
view of the importance of what was at stake, 1t was not just a question of a partial and
exceptional lack of publicity during a short stage of the trial, as the Federal Court held

The applicant maintains that the violation of the principle of public trial was all
the more serous because, when the proceedings resumed 1n Lugano, the Assize Court
read out the records of the hearings for the taking of evidence mn Ttaly His conviction
was based in part on those records, but the persons questioned 1n Italy did not confirm
the truth of their statements reported 1 these records
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f Relying on Article 6 para 3 (d) of the Convention, the applicant complains that
the Assize Court omutted to take the necessary measures to ensure that the witnesses
for the defence in pnison n Tialy were heard These witnesses had protested only about
the arrangements made for their transfer, not against the principle of giving evidence
as such The defence had never waived 1ts request that they be heard

The applicant further complains that the telegram of 20 Qctober 1989 1n which
the defence witnesses gave the reasons why they had not appeared before the Assize
Count was not communicated to the parties until 27 October 1989, 1¢ after the Assize
Court’s return to Lugano The need to check the source of the telegram should not
have prevented 1t being passed on immediately to the defence It would have been an
impartant factor to be taken 1nto consideration 1n connection with the question of
participation by the defence n the hearings due to take place 1n Rome, and the defence
was compelled to reach a decision on this question without having all the necessary
information

g The apphcant complains that the Assize Court accepted 1n evidence the
staternents of the Italian experts and the reports they had drawn up on the subject of
the murder weapon in the context of the ltahan proceedimgs, whereas ther
imdependence and impartiahity were open to doubt He asserts that the rule whereby
a Jjudge may be asked to stand down or challenged when he has previously been
mvolved 1n 4 case 1n another capactty also applies to experts The applicant alleges
that the Assize Court infringed the pninciples established by the European Court of
Human Rights 1n the Bonisch judgment of 6 May 1985 (Series A no 92) and the
Brandstetter judgment of 28 August 1991 (Senes A no 211) and the principle that a
Judge must be personally satisfied that gwlt has been proved, m breach of Article 6
paras 1 and 3 {d) of the Convention

h In addition, the applicant complains that the Assize Court quesuoned two lialian
police officers and two Swiss pohice officers about the statements they had made 1n hss
absence dunng the mvestigation stage  He alleges that in so downg the Assize Court
based hus conviction on tndirect testimony, without giving him sufficient opportunity
to challenge these witnesses and infringing the principles established by the European
Coun of Human Rights in the Kostovski judgment of 20 November 1989 (Senes A
no 166)

1 The applicant turther complains that the Italian judgments decisively mfluenced
his conviction 1n Switzerland, 1n breach of the principles of viva 1oce testimony, direct
evidence and the presumpnon of innocence He alleges that the Assize Court merely
repealed the conclusions reached n these judgments and neglected to form 11 own
autonomous opinion as to his guile

Moreover, the Assize Court’s judgment was based on arbitrary assessment of the
facts and the evidence 'With regard to the murder weapon, the Assize Count held to
be scientfically established facts which, according te the Swiss expert’s report, were
merely possible  Nor did 1t take inte account contradictions between the statements
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made by a "pentito” and those of certain eye-witnesses concerning the clothes and
appearance of the murderers. Lastly, the Assize Court did not take into account the
fact that the applicant’s car, which, according to the prosecution, had been used as a
means of transport for shooting practice sessions, was at the material time in England
in the possession of another person.

3. Lastly, the applicant complains that he was convicted twice in respect of the
same acts, and that the Swiss authorities did not take any measure capable of protecting
him from the risk that both judgments, the Italian and the Swiss, might be enforced
The applicant alleges violation of Article 4 of Protocol No. 7.

THE LAW

I Relying on Article 7 of the Convention, the applicant complains that, through
the retroactive application of the criminal law he was convicted by courts which lacked
Jurisdiction, since the Swiss Criminal Code, under Article 6 thereof, is applicable to any
Swiss national "who has commutted abroad a cnime or offence”. But at the time of the
acts he stood accused of he was an ltalian national, not a Swiss national. He complains
in particular of the Federal Court’s unforeseeable interpretation of that provision.

Article 7 para, 1 of the Convention is worded as follows

"No one shall be held guilty of any criminal offence on account of any act or
omission which did not constitute a criminal offence under national or
international law at the time when it was commutted ..."

The Commission points out that Article 7 para 1 of the Convention enshrines
the principle that only the law can define a crime and prescribe a penalty (nullum
crimen, nulla poena sine lege) and the principle that the criminal law must not be
extensively construed to an accused's detriment, for instance by analogy; it follows
from this that an offence must be clearly defined in law. This condition is satisfied
where the individual can know from the wording of the relevant provision and, if need
be, with the assistance of the courts’ interpretation of it, what acts and omissions will
make him liable {cf. Eur. Court H.R , Kokkinakis v. Greece judgment of 25 May 1993,
Series A no. 260-A, p. 22, para 52),

The Commission notes that, according to the Federal Court, the applicability of
Article 6 of the Swiss Criminal Code to cases in which an offender has acquired Swiss
nationality after committing an offence 15 not barred by the principle "nuflum crimen
sine lege certa”, apphcable to the interpretation of criminal statutes. The Comnmussion
recalls that it is, in the first instance, for the national authorities, and in particular the
courts, to tnterpret and apply domestic law {c¢f Eur. Court H.R, previously cited
Kokkmnakis v. Greece judgment, p. 19, para. 40, and Hadjianastassiou v Greece
Judgment of 16 December 1992, Senies A no. 252, p 18, para. 42).

118



The Commission notes in the first place that Article 6 of the Swiss Criminal
Code does not specify the constituent elements of an offence. That provision does not
i itself define an offence It settles a question of judicial practice, namely the
applicability of the provisions of the Criminal Code. In this case the Federal Court’s
interpretation of the provision concerned does not appear to be unreasonable or
arbitrary. On the contrary, it is consistent with a policy of judicial co-operation
between European legal systems based on the rule of law

Accordingly, the Commussion cannet find any appearance of a viclanon of
Aruicle 7 para. 1 of the Convention [t follows that this part of the application is
manifestly 1ll-founded within the meaning of Article 27 para 2 of the Convention

2. The applicant, who proclaims his innocence, also complains that he did not have
a fair trial before the Swiss courts.

He complains in particular of the prejudicial influence of the media over the
members of the Assize Court, the importance attached to the statements of the "pentiti”,
the failure to hear two cantonal police officers, the taking of evidence from persons n
prison in taly in his absence at 4 non-public hearing, the failure to hear witnesses for
the defence, the acceptance m evidence of the statements and reports of two [talian
experts, the use of indirect evidence and, in general, arbitrary assessment of the facts
and the evidence

Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 (d) of Article 6 are worded as follows

"1, In the determination of ... any criminal charge against him, everyone is
entitled to a fair and public hearing ... by an independent and impartal
trtbunal ... Judgment shall be pronounced publicly but the press and public may
be excluded from all or part of the trial in the interest of morals, public order
or npaticnal security 1n a democratic society, ... to the exient strictly necessary in
the opwion of the court in special ciicumstances where pubheuty would
prejudice the interests of justice

2. Everyone charged with a criminal offence shall be presumed mnnocent
until proved guilty according to law.

3. Everyone charged with a criminal offence has the following minimum
rights

(.)

d to examine or have examined witnesses against him and to obtain

the attendance and examination of witnesses on his behalf under the same
conditions as witnesses against him;

..)"

119



a With regard to the virulent press campaign which he claims was conducted
against hum, the applicant maintains that he was the vicim on that account of an
mfringement of his right to a fair tnal before an impartial mbunal and of the principle
of the presumption of nnocence, these infringements being mmputable to the Swiss
authonities  He considers that 1t was incumbent upon the Swiss authonties to take the
necessary measures te protubit the disclosure of confidentral information and to
guarantee the authonty and impartiality of the judiciary

The Commussion has examuned this complaint from the standpoint ot
paragraphs I and 2 of Article 6 of the Convention, under which every person charged
with a crimnal offence has the nght to a fair tnal and 10 be presumed innocent until
proved guilty

The Commussion has already acknowledged that in certain cases a virulent press
campaign can adversely affect the fairness of a tnal by influencing pubhic opimen, and
consequently the jurors called upon to decide the guilt of an accused (see, in particular,
No 10486/83, Hauschuldt v Denmark, Dec 91086, DR 49 pp 86, 101,
No 10857/84, Bricmont v Belgium, Dec 15786, DR 48 p 106, Nos 8603/79,
8722779, 8723/79 and &729/79, jomned, Dec 181280, DR 22 p 147 227
Nos 7572176, 7586/76 and 7587/76, jomned, G Ensshin, A Baader and J Rawpe
v Federal Republic of Germany, Dec 8778, DR 14 pp 64, 112)

The Commussion notes that the applicant’s arrest and trial were discussed 1n 4
large number of radio and television programmes and 1n the course of a large-wcule
press campaign, particularly 1n Ticino, but alse 1n the other Swiss cantons

While 1t 15 true that, because of the public’s right to mformation, particular
importance should be attached to the freedom of the press, a fair balance must
nevertheless be struck between that freedom and the nght to a fair trial guaranteed by
Arucle 6 of the Convention [n a democratic society within the meaning of the
Coaveaton that aght holds such a promunent place that 4 restricuve nterpretatwon of
Article 6 para 1 would not commespond to the aim and purpose of that provision (cf
Eur Court HR, Delcourt judgment of 17 Janvary 1970, Senes A no 11, p 15,
para 25)

The Commuission notes that the interest of the media i the "Baragiola case ', and
the considerable effect 1t had on public opinion, particularly 1n the canton of Ticino,
were largely the result of the proximity of Italy and the terronst activities of the Red
Brigades dunng the 1970s, and of the role played by the cantonal government wn the
case, 1 view of the ease with which the applicant had been able to change his
nationality and surmame and get a job working for the Swiss [talian language radio
service 1 spite of s antecedents

The Commussion observes that one unusual feature of the present case 1s that the

applicant had already been found gwlty in Italian judgments which had become final
Neither the press nor indeed the authonties responsible for crimunal policy can be
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expected to refrain from making any statement about the guilt of a defendant when they
possess such information as, in the present case, the applicant’s previous convictions
n Ltaly

The Commuission considers that the remark made by the president of the cantonal
counctl on 19 September 1988 in whnch he descrnibed the applicant as a  cruel terronst
should be placed in this context  Admuttedly, the Comnussion has held that the
presumption of mnocence 15 hinding not only on the cnminal court determaning 4
cnminal charge but also on the other authoriies of the Siate {¢f, in particnlar,
No 9295/81 Dec 6 1082, DR 30p 227, No 7986/77,Dec 31078, DR 13 p 73)
However, the remark in question was made 1n a pohitical context more than a year
before the opeming of the trral with the aim of providing the public with an explanation
of the admimsirative authorities” conduct It referred to the applicant’s conviction 1n
Ttaly, but could not be interpreted as suggesting that the applicant was guilty according
to Swiss law

The Commnussion recalls that what 1s decisive 15 not the subjective apprehensions
of the suspect concerning the impartiality required of the trial court, however
understandable, but whether, 1n the particular circumstances of the case, his fears can
be held to be objecuvely justified (see, as the most recent authonties, Eur Court HR
Nortier v Netherlands judgment of 24 August 1993, Series A no 267, p 15, para 33,
and Fey v Austnia judgment of 24 February 1993, Series A no 255-A, p 12 para )

The Commuission observes in that connection that the press was not unatmous
in considenng the applicant guilty and emphasised the danger of a premature tral by
the press Moreover the prosecuuon service published a press communique with a
view 1o preventing, as far as possible, the dissenunation of incorrect information

The Commission cannot find any sign of partiality in the Aswuize Court’s
decisions  The Assize Couwrt took account of the particular circumstances of the case
and assessed the evidence carefully The Commussion further observes that the
professional judges and the jurors decided the question of the applicant’s guilt together,
thus imuting the nsk of media nfluence over the jurors The Comnussion also notes
that, although the interests of the applicant were defended by three lawyers, who
assisted him throughout the trial, the apphcant, as the Federal Court noted, did not
make use of the ordinary remedies available to him under cantonal law n order to
appeal aganst the procedural decisions complamned of Lastly, the Federal Court also
examined in detail the question of media influence over the members of the Assize
Court and reached the conclusion that their impartiality was not open to doubt

Consequently, the Commussion cannot find, 1n the particular circumstances of
the case any infangement of the principle of mmpartiality or, (n peneral, of the
prninciples of fur tnal and the presumption of innocence

b The applicant also complans of the importance attached to the statements ot the
<o defenddants whose sentences had been substantially reduced pursuant to the [talian
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legislation on pentitt’  He asserts that these statements were inadmissible evidence,
and alleges that reliance on them made the tral unfair and violated Arucle 6 para 1
of the Convention

The Commussion recalls that the rules governing the taking of evidence are 10
the first place a matter for domestic law and that it 15 for the domeshc courts, as a
general rule, to assess the evidence before them  The Commussion’s task, under the
Convention, 15 to ascertain whether the proceedings in their entirety including the way
in which evidence was taken, were fair {see Eur Court HR , Saidi v France judgment
of 20 September 1993, Series A no 261-C, p 56, para 43, Edwards v United
Kingdom judgment of 16 December 1992, Senes A no 247-B, pp 34 35, para 34)

The Commussion notes that the statements of the ltahan co defendants who had
given evidence for the prosecution mcrniminating themselves (the "pentinh '} were not,
1 Swiss law, unlawfully obtained evidence

The Commussion further pomnts out that, according to 1ts case-law the use during
a tnal of evidence obtained from an accomplice by granting him immunity from
prosecution may put i question the fairness of the hearng and thus rarse an issue
under Article 6 para 1 of the Convention {¢f No 7306/75, Dec 61076 DR 7
pp 115, 11¥)

It notes that 1n this case the sentences imposed on the co defendants who had
given evidence for the prosecution were considerably reduced and alleviated 1n other
ways under the Itahan legislation on pentii As they ran the risk ot losing the
advantages they had been given if they went back on their previous statements orf
retracted their confessions, their statements were open to question 1t was therefore
necessary for the Swiss cours to adopt a cnitical approach 1n asvsessing the statements
of the penun

Although the Assize Court did not hear the 'pentiti  as witnesses, but merely as
persons asked to provide mformation and exempted from the obligation to take the
cath, for the purposes of Article 6 para 3 (d) of the Convention they must be
considered witnesses, a term to be given an autonomous nterpretation {cf , among other
authonties, Eur Court HR, Artner v Austrnia judgment of 28 August 1992, Series A
no 242 A, p 10, para 19) In this case 1t should be noted that the apphicant had the
opportunity, at a public heaning of the Assize Court in Lugano, to challenge the
statements made against him by his former co defendants Furthermore, 1t can be seen
from the Assize Court’s judgment that the finding of the applicant’s guilt was based
on a number of different items of evidence which the Assize Court carefully assessed

That being the case, the use of the statements of the penutt as evidence did
not deprive the applicant of a fair tnal and accordingly was not in breach of Article 6
pata 1 of the Convention



c. The applicant also complains that the Assize Court refused to question two
cantonal police officers on the subgect of the pressure allegedly brought to bear on the
"pentsti” by the Italian police during therr transfer to Switzerland

The Commission recalls that Article 6 para 3 (d) of the Convention does naot
give the defence an absclute right to question any witnesses 1t wishes to call (see Eur
Court HR | Vidal v. Belgium judgment of 22 Apnl 1992, Series A no 235-B, p 32,
para 33). A court may thus refuse to examine witnesses whose testimony 13 not hikely
1o help estabhish the truth (see, in particular, No 10486/83, Hauschildi v Denmark,
previously cited, DR 49 pp. 86, 102)

The Commission notes that the Assize Court gave as the reason for refusing to
hear the witnesses the applicant wished to call 1ts opinion that their testimony was not
necessary to establish the truth. Tt does not have sufficient evidence that on this point
the Assize Court's assessment of the wituation was arbitrary It further notes that the
Assize Court adopted a critical approach 1n assessing the evidence and n particular
took account of the possibility that the "pentitn” might have confirmed their previous
statements 1n order not to lose the advantages they had been granted

The Commussion accordingly considers that the applicant was 1n no way
deprived of effective enjoyment of the rights guaranteed in this regard by Artcle 6 of
the Convention

d The applicant complans that the Assize Court examined some of his former co
defendants 1n Italy 10 his absence and 1n breach of the principle of public tnal  Thear
statements formed an mmportant part of the evidence duning the tnal in the Assize
Court. Consequently, he was found guilty on the basis of statements he was unable 10
challenge adequately because of a considerable curtailment of the nghts of the defence
He relies on paragraphs 1 and 3 (d) of Article 6 of the Convention

As the reqmrements of the third paragraph of Article 6 are specific aspects of
the right to a far tnal, guaranteed under paragraph 1, the Commission wall consider
these complaints 1n the hight of the two provisions taken together (see. among other
authonties, Eur. Court HR, Melin v France judgment of 22 June 1993, Series A
no 261-A, p 11, para. 21, and Hadjianastassiou v Greece judgment, previously cited,
Senecs A no. 252, p. 16, para 31).

The Commussion recalls that evidence must 1n principle be produced 1n the
presence of the accused at a public hearing with a view to adversarial argument. That
does not mean that the statement of a witness must always be made in court and 1n
public to be admutted as evidence; 1n particular, that may be impossible in some cases
The use as evidence of statements obtained during the preliminary investigation is not
i (tself inconsistent with paragraphs 3 (d) and 1 of Article 6 As a rule these
provisions require that the defendant be given an adequate and proper opportunity to
challenge and question a witness against him either at the time when he makes any
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statement or at a later stage of the proceedings (see, among other authgrities, Eur Court
H R, previously cited Saidi v France judgment, Senes A no. 261-C, p 56, para 43,
Ludi v, Switzerland judgment of 15 June 1992, Series A no 238, p 21, para 47)

The Commussion notes that in the crcumstances of thus case a direct
confrentation between the applicant and the persons whom 1t was proposed to examme
in Italy was impossible both in Switzerland, because they refused to appear before the
Assize Court, and in Italy, because the Itahan authonties refused to 1ssue the applicant
with a safe conduct

The Assize Court did not abandon 1ts plan to examme these witnesses, but
mvited the apphicant 1o submit 1n written form the quesnons he wanted them 1o be
asked. Considenng that a direct confrontation with the persons concerned was
inchspensable, the applicant stated that he would not avail lumself of this opportunity
He also objected to his counsel accompanying the Assize Court to Italy and refused to
have a lawyer appointed under the legal aid scheme for that stage of the proceedings

The Commission censiders that, in those circumstances, the applicant cannot
complain that he did not have the opportunity to examine or have exarmined the
witnesses aganst hem It recalls in that connection that a defendant who has waived
the night to take part in cniminal proceedings cannot subsequently complain that he was
deprived of the opportunity to have examined the witnesses against him and to obtain
the examunatton of witnesses on his behalf (No 8386/78, Dec 9 1080, DR 21
pp 126, 131)

As regards the complaint that <tatements taken down 1 woiting during the
investipation were read out to those persons who refused (o answer gquestions dunng
the 1aking of evidence n faly, the Commussion recalls that, provided the nights of the
defence are respected, the reading of such statements is not incompatible with Article 6
paras 1 and 3 {d) of the Convention {see above and also, mutatis putandis, Eur Court
H R.. previously cited Artner judgment, Series A no 242 A, p 10, para 22)

However, the concept of a fair mal includes the fundamental nght to adversanal
procedure in criminal proceedings  That right means that each party must be given the
opportunity to have knowledge of and comment on the observations filed and the
evidence adduced by the other (see Eur Court H R, Brandstetter v Austria judgment
of 28 August 1991, Series A no 211, p 27, paras 66 and 67) In order to remedy, as
far as possible, the lack of adversanal argument duning the investigation and the taking
of evidence n Italy, the Assize Court read out the records of the statements made by
the persons examuned there at a publhic hearing held immediately after 1ts return from
Italy The Commussion notes that the applicant objected to the tahing of evidence 1n
ltaly and the reading out of these records, as such  However, he dud not contest the
result of the taking of evidence  Afier the statements of the persons examined n lialy
had been read out in the Assize Court, the applicunt did not request that further
questions be put to them at a further hearing n ltaly, although he could have done so
The Comrussion considers that, in those circumstances. the Assize Court was entitled
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to take account of these statements, especially as they seemed to be corroborated by
other evidence, including the statements of Cianfanellr and Walter de Cera, and by a
large body of other circumstantial evidence all pointing the same way (see, mutatis
mutandis, Eue Court H R, [aprd judgment of 19 February 1991, Senes A na 194-A,
p 13, para 35)

Conseguently, the applicant’s absence from the heanings held 1n Jialy did not,
i the giscumstances of this case, infringe the nghts of the defence. nor did 1t deprive
the applicant of a fair tnal

e With regard to the alleged violation of the principle of public tmal, the
Commussion notes that public access to the hearing held in Pahano pnison was not
generally prohibited, but was restncted 1n that only persons beaning secunty passes
were admitted The Comrmission notes that this was merely a restncuon of public
access for prison secunty reasons and concerned only one 15olated part of the tnal  The
Commussion points out that the records of the statements made were subsequently read
out at ¢ public hearmg of the Assize Court 11 Lugano and that the applicant, who
emphasises the impaortance of these statements, objected to their being read but did not
contest thewr content  Consequently, the Comrmission considers that the restriction of
pubhicity during the heaning held i Paliano prison did not infringe Artile 6 of the
Convention

f The applicant compluns that the Assize Court omutted to exarmine the defence
witnesses 1n prison tn Iraly He alleges that this impawment of the equality of arms
was all the more serious because the only persons the court examuned wa ltaly were
those whose statements tneniaunated tum Contrary to the Federal Count » findings, he
had clearly stated that he did not wish o waive his request that they be heard

The Commussion recalls that, as a generdl rule, it 15 for the national courts to
assess the evidence before them and the relevance of the evidence which defendants
seek to adduce More specifically, Arcle 6 para 3 (d) [eaves it to them, agan as 4
general rule to assess whether it 1v appropriate to call witnesses, m the autonomous
sense given to that word, 1t does not require the attendance and exanmnanion of every
witness on the accused’s behalf its essential aim, as 15 indicated by the words "under
the same conditons’, 15 4 full 'equahty of arms’ m the matter” The concept of
'equality of arms” does not, however, exhaust the content of paragraph 3 (d} of
Arucle 6, nor that of paragraph 1, of which this phrase represents one application
among others The task of the Convention institutions 15 1o ascertain whether the
proceedings (n 1ssue, considered as a whole, were fair for the purposes of paragraph 1
(see, among other authorities, Ewr Court HR | previously cied Luds v Swatzerland
yudgment, Senes A no 238, p 20, para 43)

In this case, as the Federal Court held, the Court of Cassation’s finding that by
deciding not ta participate 1n the taking of evidence m Italy the defendant had
uncondittonally waived his request that the witnesses oa hus behalf in prison 1a ltaly be
examined was not arbitranily reached  Moreover, the reasons givea by the witnesses
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for the defence 1n their telegram explaiming their failure to attend the heanng n the
Assize Court were unfounded The Itahan authoriues never contemplated compelling
these witnesses, by force and against therr wall, to appear before the Assize Court
Lastly, even after the Assize Court’s return from Italy, the applicant could still have
repeated hus request that these witnesses be exarmuned

The Commission takes the view that, having regard to the reasons given, the
Assize Court’s decision not to examine the witnesses int1ally requested by the defence
was nol arbirary  Consequently the failure to examme them did not, m the
circumstances of this case, infringe the rights of the defence, nor did 1t deprive the
applicant of a fair tnal

g The apphicant complains that the Assize Court examined the ltalian experts and
took 1nto a.count the reports concerning the murder weapon they had filed i the earhier
proceedings 1 the Italian courts He maintains that, i those circumstances, the
impartiahity of these experts was open to doubt

The Commssion will examine the applicant’s complaint under the general rule
of paragraph 1 of Arucle 6 of the Convention, whilst having due regard to the
requirements ot paragraph 3 It notes that, read lterally, sub-paragraph {(d) of
paragraph 3 relates to witnesses and not experts In any event the guarantees contained
in parsgraph 3 are constituent elements, amaongst others, of the concept of a fair trial
set forth in paragraph 1 In this context it 1s necessary to take nto consideration the
position occupted by the experts throughout the proceedings and the manner in which
they performed their funcuons (¢f Eur Court HR | previously cited Brandstetter
v Austria judgment, Senes A na 211, pp 20 21, para 42)

However, the Commission notes that the experts concerned were not heard by
the Assize Court as experts but as witnesses, and their reports, although admitted as
evidence, had no more probative value 1n the court’s eyes than any other document, not
that which expent reports ordered by a court generally have It was open to the
apphcant and his counsel to question these witnesses Conseguently, the Commission
cannal discern any evidence that erther the applicant’s nght to a fair trial or the
principle of equality of arms wnherent 1n the concept of a fair tnal (see Evr Court HR ,
Bomisch judgment of 6 May 1985, Series A no 92, p 15, para 32) was infringed 1n
this case

h The applicant further complains that the statements of the two Italian police
officers and the two Swiss police officers were not onginal evidence but hearsay He
asserts that he was unable to challenge their testimony

The Commussion notes that the applicant has not adduced any evidence n
support of this complaint and that it does not appear from the file that his conviction
was based on the statements made by the police officers concerned

1 The applicant complains that the Swiss courts based their decisions on an
arbitrary assessment of the facts and the evidence, as well as on the conclusions set out
i the [talian judgments, tn breach of the principles of wiva voce tesumony, direct
evidence and the presumption ot innocence
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However, the Comnussion considers that the reasons given n the judicial
decistons cnticised by the applicant show that the courts did not draw arbitrary
conclusions from the facts subnutted to them  Moreover, nothing 1n the file would
Justify the assertion that the Assize Court based the applicant’s conviction on the
judgments pronounced 1n Italy The Assize Court gave judgment on the queston of
the applicant’s guilt in accordance with its reasonable belief after considening a large
body of evidence taken in the course of proceedings which, as the Commussion has just
found, satisfied in every respect the requirements of Article 6 of the Convention

It follows that the applicant’s complaints under Article 6 of the Convention are
manfestly 1ll-founded and must be rejected, pursuant to Article 27 para 2 of the
Convention

3 Lastly, relying on Article 4 of Protocol No 7, the applicant complains that he
was convicted twice 1n respect of the same acts, contrary to the ‘ne bis n tdem'
prnciple

Paragraph 1 of that provision 1s worded as follows

No one shall be hable to be tried or pumshed again in crimunal proceedings
under the junisdiction of the same State for an offence for which he has already
been finally acquitted or convicted in accordance with the law and penal
procedure of that State

However, 1f 1s clear, from the express terms of this provision, that it upholds the

ne bis in wdem’ principle only in respect of cases where a person has been tned or

punished twice for the same offence by the courts of a single State  But the applicant

was first convicted n Italy, whereas the second conviction, in respect of the same acts,
wds pronounced by a Swiss court

It follows that this part of the applicaion must be rejected as being incompatible
rattone materiae with this provision within the meaming of Arucle 27 para 2 of the
Convention

For these reasons, the Commissien, by a majonty,

DECLARES THE APPLICATION iNADMISSIBLE
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